
Published and despatched by democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk on Date Not Specified. 
 01476 406080

Paul Thomas, Interim Chief Executive
www.southkesteven.gov.uk 

    

Thursday, 16 January 2020 at 12.30 pm
Witham Room, South Kesteven House, St Peter's Hill, 

Grantham  NG31 6PZ

Committee 
Members:

Councillor Ray Wootten (Chairman)
Councillor Sarah Trotter (Vice-Chairman)

Councillor Mike Exton, Councillor Mrs Rosemary Kaberry-Brown, Councillor Penny 
Milnes, Councillor Ian Stokes and Councillor Amanda Wheeler

Invited 
Cabinet 

Members

Councillor Barry Dobson, the Deputy Leader of the Council 
Councillor Robert Reid, the Cabinet Member for Communities and HR

Agenda
1.  Comments from Members of the Public

To receive comments or views from members of the public at the Committee’s 
discretion.

2.  Membership
The Committee to be notified of any substitute members.

3.  Apologies

4.  Disclosure of Interest
Members are asked to disclose any interest in matters for consideration at the 
meeting.

Rural and 
Communities 
Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee

mailto:democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


5.  Healthy Conversation
Presentation by the Chief Officer Lincolnshire CCGs (East, South, South West 
& West), John Turner.

6.  Action Notes from the meeting held on 21 November 2019 (Pages 5 - 11)

7.  Updates from the previous meeting

8.  Housing Strategy Refresh
Report of the Deputy Leader of the Council.

(Pages 13 - 46)

9.  Customer Experience Strategy
Report of the Cabinet Member for Communities and HR.

(Pages 47 - 78)

10.  Stop the Knock
A presentation on the Stop the Knock publication and a briefing on the current 
practices of the Council with respect to the use of civil enforcement agents to 
inform the scope of any further work to be commissioned by the overview and 
scrutiny committee if deemed necessary.

Motion submitted to Council on 28 November 2019 by Councillor Baxter

In 2018/19, South Kesteven used bailiff services on 2,115 occasions. Over 96% of 
these concerned overdue Council Tax payments while the remainder related to 
Business Rates. This figure has increased by 3% since 2016/17.

The use of bailiffs can be expensive and time-consuming for the council. It can also be 
very stressful for the debtors especially if they are already suffering financial hardship.

The Money Advice Trust, the charity that runs the National Debtline, recommends six 
steps for all lower-tier local authorities to implement in order to improve debt collection 
practice. More details are available at https://www.stoptheknock.org/

This motion recommends South Kesteven adopts the Six Steps (Currently the Council 
only has one of the six steps in place which is ‘step 2’ concerning referrals to free debt 
advice).

This Council resolves to:

1) make a clear public commitment to reduce the council’s use of bailiffs over 
time.

2) review the council’s signposting to free debt advice, including phone/online 
channels

3) adopt the Standard Financial Statement (SFS) to objectively assess 
affordability

4) put in place a formal policy covering residents in vulnerable circumstances

5) exempt council tax support recipients from bailiff action

6) sign the Council Tax Protocol and review the authority’s current practice 
against the ‘Supportive Council Tax Recovery’ toolkit

The detail implementation of the six steps above shall be the responsibility of the Rural 
and Communities OSC in collaboration with the relevant portfolio-holder.

11.  Any other business which the Chairman, by reason of special 
circumstances, decides is urgent

https://www.stoptheknock.org/


Meeting of the
Rural and Communities 
Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee

Thursday, 21 November 2019, 1.00 
pm

Committee Members present

Councillor Penny Milnes
Councillor Sarah Trotter (Vice-Chairman)
Councillor Amanda Wheeler

Councillor Linda Wootten
Councillor Ray Wootten (Chairman)

Cabinet Members
Councillor Rosemary Trollope-Bellew

Officers

Assistant Director Housing (Harry Rai)
Head of Repairs and Improvements (Andrew Sweeney)
Scrutiny Officer (Zena West)
Democratic Officer (Lucy Bonshor)

17. Membership

The Committee were notified that Councillor Linda Wootten was substituting 
for Councillor Mike Exton.

18. Apologies

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors’ Kaberry-Brown and Ian 
Stokes.

An apology had also been received from the Cabinet Member for 
Communities and HR, Councillor Reid who had a previous engagement.

19. Disclosure of Interest

None disclosed.

3

Agenda Item 6



20. Action Notes from the meeting held on 12th September 2019

The action notes from the meeting held on 12 September 2019 were noted. 

21. Updates from the previous meeting

A Member asked for clarity regarding the reference to Occupational 
Therapists (OTs) in the notes, was this in relation to Disabled Facilities 
Grants.  The Assistant Director Housing clarified that it was and how the use 
of OTs within council owned stock affected funding figures. 

Due to the election being called and subject to his availability John Turner 
would be invited to attend the January meeting to speak about the Healthy 
Conversation consultation. 

22. Turn around on Void Properties

Members received a presentation from the Head of Repairs and 
Improvements on the turnaround on void properties which the Committee had 
asked for at a previous meeting.  A review on voids had been undertaken as 
the turnaround time did impact on rental income.  The main issues 
surrounding voids included excessive turnaround times with reoccurring 
bottlenecks, low up take of stock in areas with limited sustainability, there 
were in the region of 500 voids per annum which was reaching optimum levels 
and there had been a notable increase in major voids in the last two to three 
years.   Loss of rental income was above average at £136,000 in May for 
between 350 – 380 void properties.  

The Head of Repairs and Improvements then spoke about possible causes for 
the current void turnaround time which stood at between 52 – 55 days. 
Causes could be the void process itself, the method of prioritising voids, the 
condition of the housing stock, some of which may be obsolete stock and 
tenant’s expectations which may be higher than the minimum letting standards 
that were currently used. 

In order to address the void situation a review group was formed with 
members of the Housing Team, the Repairs Team and the Business 
Transformation Team.  The review team mapped the current process and 
identified bottlenecks and duplication of work and reviewed the processes for 
prioritisation where the most popular properties were brought forward, and 
they looked at handover processes between all teams.

As part of the recent housing restructure exercise a review of all current void 
related roles and responsibilities across the Housing and Repairs teams were 
undertaken.  Roles were redefined to stop repetition. KPi’s had been revised 
to offer properties within five days of notice being received.  Amendments had 
been made to the sign-up procedure to remove unnecessary forms.  Re-
evaluations had taken place as to what constituted a “priority” void and those 

4



in popular locations would be occupied quickly.  The new Tenancy Agreement 
would include a stronger access provision to enable properties to be accessed 
to carry out any necessary work.

House mark data had been used to find authorities who were already 
achieving good turnaround figures and they had been contacted to see how 
processes could be streamlined and re-aligned to achieve better outcomes.  
Work had been done to minimise the number of handovers with training being 
carried out to enable cross team working and decision making.

Other actions included having a new void re-let standard, the current standard 
was a minimum letting standard and it could be that tenants’ aspirations were 
higher than the minimum standard which affected the re-let. It was noted that 
having a higher standard did have cost implications.  Choice Based Lettings 
would also be utilised and hard to let properties would have robust 
assessments carried out to see whether they were unsustainable.  A new 
housing system (Northgate Housing System) would also be implemented 
which would improve linkage between assets and housing management.  It 
was hoped that the planned actions would achieve a shorter turnaround of 
between 23 and 25 days.

The following points were then raised.

 Number of people currently on the waiting list, currently within band 1-3 
there were 800.

 Notice period, four weeks – where notice was given and the property 
still occupied, pre inspections would take place to help with planning 
any work required.

 Clarification about what the Northgate Housing System was. 
 Reasons for refusals – they included house condition, location, where 

children go to school, vulnerability.
 Mutual exchanges when matching properties.
 Process for communication between tenants and councils and keeping 

people in touch with what is going on – letters sent out annually to see 
if tenants circumstances have changed.

 New housing software will enable a slicker system between asset 
management and housing management – better liaison between 
teams.

 Properties left in a damaged/poor condition – cost recovery undertaken 
where ever possible – notes made in case tenants return to area for 
them to be re charged if necessary, this included rent arrears where 
people had mutual exchanged properties and left rent unpaid.  

 Going forward it was hoped that properties would be advertised on a 
portal to which all tenants would have access via a password.  Tenants 
who were genuinely interested in a property could register their interest.  
An advocacy role would be undertaken by Housing in the case of 
vulnerable tenants wishing to express an interest in a property.  

5



It was acknowledged that the proposed targets were challenging but it was 
hoped that with the proposed actions put in place it would speed up the 
process.  A further question was asked about any void properties held back 
for emergency housing.    The Assistant Director Housing stated that the 
majority of housing stock was in Grantham, but they did not hold emergency 
housing stock.  A request was made for a copy of the slides to be circulated.

 Action Note

Copy of slides to be re-circulated.

The Head of Repairs and Improvements was thanked for his presentation and 
the Chairman asked if the Committee could be circulated with the current 
waiting list numbers.

   Action Note

Up to date waiting list figures to be circulated to Members of the 
Committee.

The Committee supported the proposals that had been outlined and 
congratulated Officers on the solutions put forward and asked that the 
Committee be given an update at a later date.   

   Action Note

An update on void turn arounds to be given at a later date.

23. Tenancy Agreement

The Assistant Director for Housing presented the report on the proposed 
Tenancy Agreement for tenants. The Council’s current Tenancy Agreements 
format had been in place for 17 years with statutory changes and good 
practice being made overtime.  The current documents no longer reflected the 
current needs of the housing services or the context in which social housing 
operated.  Changes to the document which covered both Introductory and 
Secure Tenancy Agreements were outlined within the report and had been 
undertaken to help with clarity and understanding and to stop duplication. The 
Tenancy Agreement was a “weighty” document and to cut down on 
unnecessary content, tenants would be signposted to the Tenancy Handbook 
for guidance.   

Joint tenancies had been clarified and the responsibilities of joint tenants 
about issues such as rent payments.  Other changes included the tightening 
of requirements for allowing access to properties, including carrying out gas 
servicing or health and safety checks.  Clarification on the rules around 
damage and improvements to the property with the emphasis on how the 

6



Council as landlord would enforce the sanctions if tenants damaged property 
or carried out improvements without permission.  The new document 
emphasised the tenants responsibilities with regard to minor repairs and 
clarified the rules in relation to disclaimers for improvements taken on by new 
tenants.  Rules around conditions in relation to animals and pets had also 
been clarified which allowed a more flexible approach, providing more 
discretion on how they were managed and enforced as it was acknowledged 
the companionship animals gave.

There had been 440 responses, 300 of which had no comments and 140 had 
comments, of the responses with comments 60 were in relation to the tenancy 
agreement and 80 were in relation to other issues.  The main comments 
received were listed in the report but included having no smoking in shared 
communal areas, assistance required if someone could not do minor repairs 
and the number of pets.  The comments had been taken on board and put into 
the draft Tenancy Agreement.   Once the draft document had been adopted 
by Cabinet it would come into force from 1st April 2020.

Members then discussed the document and the following comments and 
questions were made.

 What was meant by immoral – could there be examples within the 
document.  It was noted that the terms used had been taken from the 
legislation in the Housing Act.

 What support was provided to those who were evicted, it depended 
upon what led up to the eviction and the reason for it – if issues arose, 
anti-social behaviour, rent arrears etc intervention was put in place 
quickly to try and mitigate issues.    

 The percentage turnover rate for council evictions was not high but it 
depended upon whether the tenant had made themselves homeless 
due to their actions or they had become unintentionally homeless.  The 
Council did try to work with tenants so that they could remain in their 
home.

 Responsibility for gardens was discussed in relation to breaches and 
tenants who were unable to look after their garden.   It was stated that 
estate mangers did do walkabouts in their area and any problems 
would be dealt with accordingly.

 Assistance Garden services were not being taken away, but a refresh 
was underway and would come before the Committee next year.

 Reference was made to page 20 (b) second paragraph of the draft 
Tenancy Agreement where it was felt that the “they” should be changed 
to “you”.

 Subletting was discussed and what its definition was (a bedroom could 
be classed as self-contained within a house). 

 A question was asked in relation to electric wheelchairs and mobility 
scooters and recharging them, they were often located in a stairwell.  
The Assistant Director Housing stated that this was currently being 

7



investigated with a view to creating common areas to charge these 
types of vehicles.

 A question was asked about clause 13 which was referenced on page 
34 of the draft document. The Assistant Director Housing said that he 
would find out what this was in relation to.  

 Grass verges and parking on them within housing complexes was 
discussed, who was responsible for them.  Some were maintained and 
adopted by Lincolnshire County Council. Where possible areas which 
were the Council’s responsibility and had been damaged were fenced 
off.

 Ending your tenancy was also discussed and what could be taken or 
left, i.e carpets and flooring - there was no blanket policy in relation to 
the end of tenancy.

 A question was asked about the financial situation of tenants – a 
tenancy was for life unless it was breached, there was no legislation to 
allow any change to a tenancy due to financial circumstances.

In proposing the document for adoption by the Cabinet the Chairman asked 
for the following points to be addressed:

- That further clarification was given in the document on what was meant 
by immoral behaviour.

- That page 20 (b) second paragraph of the draft Tenancy Agreement be 
changed from “they” to “you”.

- That the reference to Clause 13, page 34 is clarified.

That the Committee are sent the number, types and causes of evictions that 
had taken place.

The proposal was seconded and on being put to the vote agreed.

Recommendation:

The Rural and Communities OSC recommends the proposed draft 
Tenancy Agreement to Cabinet for adoption and for it to be sent as a 
‘notice of variation’ to all tenants of South Kesteven District Council in 
accordance with Section 103 of the Housing Act 1985 subject to the 
following:

- That further clarification was given in the document on what was 
meant by immoral behaviour.

- That page 20 (b) second paragraph of the draft Tenancy 
Agreement be changed from “they” to “you”.

- That the reference to Clause 13, page 34 is clarified.

That the Committee are sent the number, types and causes of evictions 
that had taken place.

8



 Extra meeting of the Rural and Communities OSC

The Chairman informed the Committee that an extra meeting of the 
Committee was required and asked Members to agree to hold an extra 
meeting of the Committee on Thursday 16th January 2020.

 Action Note

The Committee agreed to hold a further meeting of the Rural and 
Communities OSC on Thursday 16th January 2020.

25. Work Programme

Members were informed of the items for discussion at the next meeting of the 
Committee.  Items included the Housing Strategy, Healthy Conversation, 
Customer Experience Strategy, Streamlining Community Guide and the 
Safeguarding Policy.  The Committee were also notified about a request from 
a Member to look at the “Stop the Knock” campaign and for this to be included 
on the agenda for the next meeting. 

One Member asked what the Healthy Conversation was to which the 
Chairman replied.

Members agreed with the items for inclusion on the next agenda.    It was 
noted that if John Turner was not available for the January meeting, he would 
be invited to the February meeting of the Committee.

26. Close of meeting

Meeting closed at 2:14pm.

9



This page is intentionally left blank



Rural & Communities
Overview and Scrutiny Committee
16th January 2020

Report of: Councillor Barry Dobson
Deputy Leader of the Council

        

Housing Strategy Refresh
A mid term refresh of the Housing Strategy 2017-2021

Report Author

Celia Bown, Senior Housing Policy and Strategy Officer

 01476 406063

 c.bown@southkesteven.gov.uk

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards:

Growth Key All Wards

Reviewed by: Helen Clarke, Head of Housing 16 December 2019

Approved by: Harry Rai, Interim Strategic Director for Growth 18 December 2019

Signed off by: Councillor Barry Dobson, Deputy Leader of the 
Council and Cabinet Member for Housing 2 January 2020

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s)

Rural and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee to recommend to Cabinet to 
approve the Housing Strategy refresh.

11

Agenda Item 8

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


1 The Background to the Report
1.1 Cabinet adopted the Housing Strategy 2017-2021 on 12th April 2018.  A midterm review of 

the strategy has been undertaken which has identified some areas which need to be 
enhanced and a refresh of the Housing Strategy has been drafted and is appended 
(Appendix 1).

1.2 The Housing Strategy (2017-2021) was taken to Cabinet under report HS6 on 12th April 
2018.

1.3 Cabinet approved the adoption of the revised draft housing strategy and the proposed Year 
1 (2018/2019) Internal Delivery Plan.  The one-year delivery plan has four themes identified 
and actions under each theme.

1.4 Cabinet agreed that the Cabinet Member for Housing will regularly monitor progress against 
the ‘Action Plan’ and report after an initial period of 6 months, with a view to then making 
annual reports.

1.5 The six-month update was taken to Cabinet on the 1st November 2018.

1.6 The twelve-month update was taken to Cabinet on 9th July 2019.  A further 1-year update 
will be presented to Cabinet at the first meeting following April 2020.

1.7 Cabinet, at their meeting of 1 November 2018, were advised that after the 1st year, a refresh 
of the Strategy is good practice to ensure it continues to be fit for purpose.

1.8 No significant changes are proposed.   However, the committee is asked to comment on 
some of the enhanced areas that feature in the refresh: -

(i) Supporting Housing Independence for Older People and other Vulnerable 
Groups - remodelling & technology

(ii)  Provide the conditions for Tenant Involvement

(iii)  Improve Housing Services & Options

(iv)  Regenerate our Priority Neighbourhoods

(v) Energy Efficiency- Tackling Fuel Poverty/Climate Change in new developments 
and current Housing.

1.9 One of the areas that has been further enhanced in the refresh is developing new housing 
across tenure to prioritise a balanced housing market. To help deliver some of the 
challenging housing targets in the Local Plan and the imposed 20% buffer due to historic 
underperformance, the strategy recommends the council exploring all mechanisms and/or 
vehicles to help deliver the scale and extent of new housing in the district.

1.10 The refreshed Housing Strategy is supported by an action plan outlining key dates and 
milestones to ensure actions are on track to achieve the objectives of the Strategy.  Subject 
to member’s approval, the enhanced areas will be incorporated into the action plan.

12



2 Consultation and Feedback Received
2.1  N/A for strategy refresh

3 Available Options Considered
3.1 N/A for strategy refresh

4 Preferred Option
4.1 N/A for strategy refresh

5 Reasons for the Recommendation (s)
5.1 The draft Housing Strategy refresh allows the Council to make best use of Council stock; 

improve tenant involvement and enhance existing housing services.

6 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision
6.1 The refreshed Housing Strategy would be communicated to all of our key partners and 

publicised on our website.

7 Financial Implications
7.1 The financial implications of developing and adopting the strategy will be met from existing 

budgets.

7.2 There may be resource implications in delivering each action.  These will either be met 
from existing budgets or a report will be submitted to request additional budget.

Financial Implications reviewed by: Alison Hall-Wright

8 Legal and Governance Implications
8.1 No further Legal implications 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Shelley Hardy

9 Equality and Safeguarding Implications 
9.1 The Impact Analysis of the Strategy was originally produced in September 2017 and was 

reviewed and updated to reflect the original consultation exercise.

9.2 The Impact Analysis identified ways in which the Strategy can positively impact 
households with protected characteristics.

9.3 Outcomes of the Strategy aim to improve the delivery of affordable housing, provide 
choice to enable people to live independently in a home that suits their needs, ensure 
quality housing in the private rented sector and support housing need.  Many of the action 
plan activities which will achieve these outcomes support low income households, 
amongst whom protected groups are often disproportionately represented.

9.4 Individual Impact Analysis will be undertaken for the supporting policies which will 
underpin the achievement of the Strategy as they are developed.

13



10 Risk and Mitigation
10.1 Risk has been considered as part of this report and any specific high risks are included in 

the table below:

Category Risk Action / Controls

Delivery of Corporate Plan 
priorities for housing growth

The refreshed housing strategy and 
associated action plan provide the 
mechanism to facilitate and drive forward 
the development of a wide range of 
homes, while supporting wider 
opportunities for growth within the 
district.

11 Community Safety Implications 
11.1 There are not considered to be any direct community safety implications arising from this 

strategy refresh.

12 Other Implications (where significant) 
12.1 None identified

13 Background Papers
13.1 Cabinet papers of 12th April 2018 (report HS6). 

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s19919/HS6%20Housing%20Strategy
%20for%20Cabinet.pdf 

14 Appendices
14.1 Appendix 1 – Housing Strategy (2019-2023) Refresh (draft)

Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required)

19 December 2019

Previously Considered by: Rural and 
Communities Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee

16 January 2020

Report Timeline: 

Final Decision date  21 November 2018

14

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s19919/HS6%20Housing%20Strategy%20for%20Cabinet.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s19919/HS6%20Housing%20Strategy%20for%20Cabinet.pdf


2019-2023(draft)
Housing Strategy

15



IT Strategy 2015 - 2017Housing strategy 2019 - 2023

2

Contents
Foreword 3
Vision 4
Achievements 6
Links to other strategies 7
A snapshot of South Kesteven 8

Our residents 8
Our homes 8
Our housing costs 10
Our economy and growth 10
Our health and wellbeing 12

Challenges 13
Delivering new homes 13
Ensuring quality housing 13
Providing choice for older and disabled people 15
Supporting housing need 15

Key outcomes 17
Theme 1: Help meet the housing needs of residents 17
Theme 2: Facilitate the delivery of new housing 18
Theme 3: Enable those whose independence may be  
at risk to access housing (including their current home)  
which meets their needs 19
Theme 4: Encourage, support and regulate the  
private sector to provide well managed, safe homes 20

Action plan 21-28
Monitoring outcomes 29
Contacts 29

Fr
on

t c
ov

er
 p

ic
: T

re
nt

 R
oa

d,
 G

ra
nt

ha
m

16



3

Housing strategy 2019 - 2023

Foreword
South Kesteven is an attractive, prosperous and 
safe place to live, work and visit. Its rural areas are 
consistently rated as among the best in the county by 
the Halifax. Covering over 365 square miles, the district 
has four market towns and over 80 villages. 
 
People are attracted to the area because of its excellent 
access to the A1 and the East Coast Mainline (London 
is only an hour away), its relatively inexpensive housing 
- particularly outside Stamford - and high achieving 
schools. The district is a healthy place to live, with an 
active labour market and unemployment levels well 
below the East Midlands average. 

We have ambitious annual targets for housing delivery 
across the district, with plans underway to support the 
creation of Spitalgate Garden Village development near 
Grantham. This site is one of just fourteen locations 
selected by Government to access a £6 million fund 
to support the delivery of 3700 mixed tenure homes 
alongside a retail outlet village and business park 
creating 4000 new jobs and opportunities for companies 
to grow.

However, we have some significant housing challenges:  
some 22% of our population is aged over 65, and this is 
expected to grow to 31% by 2039; demand for homes 
continues, although housing is becoming gradually less 
affordable for many people; the quality of existing rental 
homes is often not good enough; there are pockets of 
deprivation, with some aspects more apparent in rural 
areas with limited access to services.

Since our previous housing strategy there have been a 
number of legislative and policy changes and it is now 
timely to review our position and establish new priorities 
to address the changing environment in which we are 
working.

Our Housing Strategy 2019-2023 is an overarching 
document which takes account of the main national and 
local issues that are likely to affect our district in the 
near future. It sets out our challenges and how we will 
address them, focusing on delivering outcomes across 
four core theme areas.  The actions needed to support 
this are detailed in our action plan.

Cllr Barry Dobson
Cabinet Member for Communities
South Kesteven District Council

17



 

4

Housing strategy 2019 - 2023

Vision
At the heart of the strategy is the belief that homes 
are a fundamental part of our lives. Houses should be 
‘healthy’, good quality, sustainable and secure, providing 
the environment for people to thrive and achieve.  
Good housing in vibrant and attractive towns and 
villages supports a strong economy and helps create a 
community where people want to live, work and invest. 

To meet this vision, four themes areas have been 
identified and developed to help us to address the 
challenges and achieve the best possible housing 
outcomes. 

These are to:
1. Help meet the housing needs of residents 
2. Facilitate the delivery of new housing across a range 

of tenures 
3. Enable those whose independence may be at risk to 

access housing (including their current home) that 
meets their needs 

4. Encourage, support and regulate the private rental 
sector to provide well managed, safe homes.

18



 

5

Housing strategy 2019 - 2023

Help meet the  
housing needs  
of residents

19



   

6

Housing Strategy 2019 - 2023

Achievements
Since the start of our previous Housing Strategy in 
2013 the economic climate has presented a range of 
challenges. Despite these challenges, a list of things 
have been achieved, including:

• 2,700 new homes delivered (net)
• 502 new affordable homes created
• 3,784 dwellings with planning consent (as at 31 

March 2017)
• Consulted on a new draft local plan with land 

allocations, representing a total of 17,000 new homes 
by 2036

• External wall insulation reto-fitted to 770 council 
homes 

• Improved the homes of 321 vulnerable  
owner - occupiers through grants

• Funded disabled adaptations to 356 private  
sector homes

• Helped 148 households to move from overcrowded 
housing

• Secured Central Government funding to support the 
Spitalgate Garden Village

• Obtained Land Fund Partner status for the 
Government’s Starter Homes Initiative.

20



   

Housing Strategy 2019 - 2023

7

Links to other strategies
The Housing Strategy works alongside existing Council 
plans, policies and strategies, providing a framework for 
the delivery of SKDC’s housing priorities. Where relevant, 
these documents will be reviewed to reflect the direction 
of our housing strategy, providing the mechanism to 
support the activities and deliver many of the outcomes 
detailed in our action plan.    

Importantly, the Council cannot deliver this strategy 
in isolation. While we have a central role, we need 
the support and co-operation of all those involved in 
building, providing and managing homes in the  
district to deliver the best outcomes for our residents. 

Corporate Plan

Private Sector 
Housing
Policy

Medium Term 
Financial
Strategy

Allocations
Policy

Local Plan

Tenancy 
Strategy

HRA 
Business 

Plan

Homelessness
Strategy

Housing
Strategy

21



8

Housing Strategy 2019 - 2023

A snapshot of South Kesteven
Our residents
• South Kesteven has a population of around 140,190 

(2016 mid-year estimate)
• The population is predicted to increase by 14%, to 

162,400, by 2039
• 60% of our population is of working age, with an 

upward trend in the number of people who are  
65+ years

• Around 9% of our residents were born outside of  
the UK 

• Life expectancy is 84 years for women and 80  
for men 

• There are approximately 149 people per km2.  
The Lincolnshire average is of 125 people per km2 

• Households are becoming smaller, with 28% of 
households being single

• The average gross full-time pay earned by a person 
living in South Kesteven is £499 per week (2017)

• The number of people applying to SKDC as 
homeless, has risen by a third since 2010/11

• There are around 3,470 people on SKDC housing 
register, of which 23% have recognised housing need

• Levels of disability are increasing at the same rate as 
the rise in population. The vast proportion  
of disabled people live in unadapted housing. 

Our homes
• There are around 62,400 households in South 

Kesteven, expected to increase to over 71,000  
by 2037

• 67% of households own their own home, 20% rent 
privately and 13% live in a social housing (2017). The 
private rental sector has grown from 11% in 2009, 
while owner occupation has reduced by 9% 

• It is estimated that 15% of owner occupied and 18% 
of private rented properties have a serious hazard in 
the home

• Approximately 8% of private rented homes will be 
affected by minimum energy efficiency standards 
being introduced from 2018

• The rural nature of the district means that over 11,000 
homes (19%) are not connected to the mains gas 
network, reducing fuel choice and impacting on 
affordability

• 1% of homes in the district have been empty for more 
than six months

• More than 50% of those on our housing register are in 
need of one-bedroom accommodation

• The use of temporary accommodation is increasing 
due to the lack of affordable housing solutions locally.

22



9

Housing Strategy 2019 - 2023

G
ra

nt
ha

m
 C

an
al

 a
t W

oo
ls

th
or

pe
 b

y 
B

el
vo

ir

23



Housing Strategy 2019 - 2023

Housing costs
• The median house sale price in South Kesteven in 

the year ending June 2017 was £191,000 (up from 
£153,748 in 2012). This is the highest in Lincolnshire. 
Sale prices ranged from around £263,000 for a 
detached house to £107,250 for a flat/maisonette 

• The median house price is 7.4 times the median 
(residence-based) gross earnings (2016). This 
ratio shows an upward trend and is the highest in 
Lincolnshire  

• The average monthly private rent in 2016-17 was 
£592. Rents vary across the district, with levels in 
Stamford typically higher than in Grantham 

• Around 11 percent of households are in fuel poverty 
according to the low income/high cost definition, with 
rural communities experiencing significantly higher 
concentrations 

• Residents are using the Help to Buy Equity Loan 
Scheme for new homes, with 503 completed between 
April 2013 and September 2017. Of these, 78% 
were first time buyers. This growth in demand from 
first time buyers is helping to stimulate the supply of  
housing.

Our economy and growth
• South Kesteven has a projected need for an 

additional 625 new homes per annum. 478 new 
homes were completed in 2016 -17, of which 28  
were classed as affordable

• Our draft Local Plan contains a projected target of 
between 680 and 720 dwellings per annum 

• There were 2,689 house sales in the district in the 
year ending June 2017. The majority were detached 
properties (45%), followed by semi-detached (26%), 
terraced (22%) and flats/maisonettes (7%) 

• The districts grammar schools and academies are 
high-performing, with over 70% of students achieving 
a 4-9 pass (9 being the top grade) in English and 
Maths GCSEs in 2016/17. However, only 30% of our 
residents are educated to degree level and above, 
lower than the regional and national average of 35%, 
reflecting elements of our local jobs market

• Employment levels are high, with the unemployment 
rate standing at 3.2% (October 2016 to September 
2017) in comparison with 4.5% nationally 

• Employment is forecast to grow by 16% during the 
period 2011 to 2036 

• In 2017 there were 5,920 enterprises in the district, 
a 6.5% increase on 2015. 98% of these enterprises 
have less than 50 employees. 

10 24



Housing Strategy 2019 - 2023

11

Residents are using the 
Help to Buy Equity Loan 
Scheme for new homes.

25



Our health and wellbeing
• According to The Index of Multiple Deprivation 2015, 

SK is one of the least deprived districts, ranking 233 
out of 326 

• The Grantham Earlesfield and Grantham Harrowby 
wards are the most deprived, while Stamford St. 
Johns was the least deprived area in the district 

• About 15% of children live in low income families. The 
Child Poverty Act 2010 set a target of 10% by 2020. 

• Over the period August 2013 – July 2016, 244 winter 
deaths occurred compared to the average number of 
non-winter deaths. This is not significantly different 
from the average across England

• Overall life expectancy is higher than the England 
average. However, life expectancy for men is 5.9 
years lower and for women 6 years lower in the 
most deprived areas of the district than in the least 
deprived area (2013-2015)

• 7,652 adults aged over 65 report having a long-term 
illness that limits day-to-day activities ‘a little’, while 
6,298 report this as ‘a lot’

• Fifteen percent of those with an evidenced need 
on the housing register are living in conditions 
considered to be ‘crowded’.

Housing Strategy 2019 - 2023

12 26



    

Housing Strategy 2019 - 2023

Challenges
The Government’s Housing White Paper ‘Fixing our broken 
housing market’, published in February 2017, represents a shift 
in Government policy focus towards a tenure neutral approach 
to increasing the speed and quantity of housing supply.  

SKDC is committed to improving the lives of our residents, 
alongside creating opportunities for growth and prosperity 
for businesses and local people. However, we recognise 
that to build on our successes we have challenges to 
overcome and need to work with our partners to achieve 
our goals.

Delivering new homes
Challenge Statement: There is a national shortage of new 
homes, which means that life choices are being reduced and 
opportunities to expand the economy are being missed. 

The forecast increase in local population and the 
Government target to build 200,000 homes nationally by 
2020 means that we will need a range of housing options 
which will support housing supply and economic growth.
While SKDC has a sufficient land supply, unlocking 
sites and working with developers to encourage the 
development of housing which meets the future needs of 
our residents will be a key part of our future role.  
As well as building more homes, it is important that we 
maximise the use of existing homes by working with 

landlords to bring empty homes back into use. As a 
stock retaining authority, South Kesteven District Council 
has 6,071 properties (as at 23 January 2018). Under-
occupation is a barrier to better utilisation, so we need 
to develop a better offer for people to enable them to 
downsize to homes that better meet their needs. 

Ensuring quality housing
Challenge Statement: Privately rented properties make up 
20% of the housing stock in South Kesteven. The sector is 
facing unprecedented changes in legislation that aims to 
raise standards and drive out ‘rogue’ landlords.

Poor housing conditions have a negative impact on health 
and wellbeing. While many people choose the private 
rented sector for its flexibility, others who would have 
previously purchased a home or rented social housing 
are increasingly relying on this option. This has the effect 
of increasing rents and shrinking the cheaper end of the 
market where people often accept poorer quality housing 
at a price they can afford. 

We will need to use new legislation and take timely action 
to continue to protect tenants and their families against 
‘rogue’ landlords and ensure that the energy efficiency of 
homes meets new minimum standards to enable them to 
continue to be rented and remain affordable. 

1327



Housing Strategy 2019 - 2023

14

Providing choice  
for older people

28



Providing choice for older and disabled people
Challenge Statement: Life expectancy is increasing, but 
as people age they are increasingly likely to live with 
illness, disability and frailty and need additional support.

The ageing population puts an increased demand on 
a particular sector of the housing market, including 
specialist and supported housing. Increasing emphasis is 
therefore being placed on re-designing service offers from 
health, social care and support and adaptation services 
to help residents remain in their own home and to live 
independently or move to more suitable accommodation. 
Many are keen to move to more suitable homes, but there 
appears to be a shortage of accommodation that meets 
people’s needs and expectations. Traditional ‘sheltered 
housing’ offered by social housing landlords does not 
appeal to everyone, while the market for ‘new generation’ 
retirement homes is proving relatively slow to develop in 
South Kesteven.

Supporting housing need
Challenge Statement: It is becoming increasingly 
difficult to source and secure affordable accommodation 
that meets the needs of people on lower or insecure 
incomes, and for those households to sustain that 
accommodation. 

The Welfare Reform Act 2012 has introduced numerous 
changes that affect the income people receive, meaning 
that more households are experiencing difficulties in 
meeting their housing costs. The majority of people under 
35 living in private rented accommodation can only receive 
Local Housing Allowance (LHA) for a room in a shared 
property. In addition to this, the ‘benefit cap’ will reduce the 
maximum amount a non-working, non-disabled household 
can receive in state benefits to £20,000 per year (£13,400 
for single adults). The lack of shared accommodation in the 
district, combined with these changes, will affect the ability 
of these households to find affordable accommodation and 
pay rent.

The Homeless Reduction Act 2017 introduces new duties 
on local authorities from April 2018 to assess, prevent 
and relieve homelessness. Intervening early before a crisis 
occurs is a key focus and will require partnership working 

Housing Strategy 2019 - 2023

1529



Housing Strategy 2019 - 2023

to enable specific targeted work to effectively support 
those who we anticipate will face difficulties. This will have 
a considerable impact on our work.

The Government’s proposed funding model for supported 
housing, which leaves funding for housing costs in long-
term and sheltered housing services in the benefits system, 
provides a more sustainable future for supported housing.

The Government remains committed to the ongoing 
removal of the spare bedroom subsidy and is considering 
applying the same approach to those of pensionable age 
who were previously exempt. 

Initial work with the NHS and other statutory partners 
has begun to clarify the need for a range of affordable 
housing to be provided across the district as an alternative 
to hospital or residential care. We also need to better 
understand the requirements for people with learning 
disabilities, those with mental health issues or physical 
health needs. 

16 30



17

Housing Strategy 2019 - 2023

These challenges provide a number of opportunities for us to work with partners to achieve the best possible housing 
outcomes across our district.

From the work undertaken by councillors, four main themes with associated outcomes have been developed and will be 
our focus over the next four years.

Key outcomes

Theme 1:  Help to meet the housing needs of residents

Key outcomes

1.1 The impact of the Council’s future investment in affordable housing is maximised through the  
use of traditional, off-site and modular construction options

1.2 The continued delivery of Council housing to help meet social housing needs

1.3 Energy-efficient social and affordable housing which helps to reduce fuel poverty

1.4 Increased housing options to those on lower incomes

1.5

Successful lobbying of central Government on future policy development for the affordable  
housing sector to maximise resources available for future investment, including: the relaxation of 
current restrictions affecting the ability of local authorities to borrow money; the ways in which it 
can be spent, and the retention of a negotiated quota on new developments through s106 of the 
Planning Act as this is the principal contributor to new stock

1.6 Provide the conditions for Tenant Involvement

1.7 Improve Housing Services & Options

1.8 Regenerate our priority neighbourhoods

1.9 Energy Efficiency- Tackling Fuel Poverty/Climate Change in new developments and current Housing

31



18

Housing Strategy 2019 - 2023

Theme 2: Facilitate the delivery of new housing across a range of tenures

Key outcomes

2.1 The development of high quality, sustainable housing that reflects the character and increases the 
desirability of South Kesteven as a place in which to live

2.2 The up-front delivery of essential infrastructure on key development sites

2.3 Support for Government initiatives to encourage developers to bring forward housing delivery 
where house builders are not delivering quickly enough

2.4 Planning processes that encourage land owners and developers to bring potential housing sites  
to the market with the required infrastructure in place

2.5 The best use is made of existing property and land that can be converted to housing quickly

2.6 The development of a skilled workforce that can meet the housing delivery needs of the district

2.7 Disaggregation of large housing sites to enable smaller developers to deliver at pace

2.8 A sustainable rental market that is a genuine, affordable alternative to home ownership

2.9
A tailored approach to housing delivery: Bourne, Market Deeping, Stamford, Grantham and the 
rural areas have very different markets and these may require different approaches to housing 
delivery

32



19

Housing Strategy 2019 - 2023

Theme 3:  Enable those whose independence may be at risk to access 
housing (including their current home) that meets their needs

Key outcomes

3.1 Households can access accommodation that meets their current needs and if their needs change 
move to more suitable properties

3.2 People can live independently, with appropriate support that can be called on when required

3.3 Appropriate provision of high-quality, skilled carers who are able to support independent living

3.4 The provision of suitable and affordable places in care homes

3.5 Clarity on the range of affordable housing required across the district to meet the needs of people 
with physical disabilities, learning disabilities and mental health problems

3.6 Supporting Housing Independence for Older People and other Vulnerable  
Groups - remodelling & technology

33



20

Housing Strategy 2019 - 2023

Theme 4: Encourage, support and regulate the private sector to provide well 
managed, safe homes

Key outcomes

4.1 Fully-informed landlords and letting agents who know what they have to do to improve the quality 
of their properties

4.2 Improvement in the private rental sector, but without creating so much pressure that  
tenants are forced out of the sector

4.3 Protection for tenants who often have no choice but to settle for lower-quality rental property

4.4 Improved engagement with the sector to enable access for people who are on low incomes, in 
receipt of benefits or under 35 years old

34



21

Housing Strategy 2019 - 2023

Theme 1:  Help meet the housing needs of residents

Activity Actions Contributes to 
Outcomes Action Period Responsible 

Lead(s)

Making best use of  
existing buildings, creat-
ing quality places

T1.1
Explore opportunities to 
develop new temporary 
accommodation

1.2, 1.3, 1.4, 2.5 Short/Medium

Assistant  
Director  
Development  
& Growth 

Assistant  
Director Housing

T1.2
Encourage high streets 
to be  interspersed  with 
residential units

Right home, right size, 
right price

T1.3

Consider making small 
plots of SKDC land  
available to smaller  
builders/self-builders

1.2, 2.5, 2.7, 2.9 Short

Assistant  
Director   
Development  
& Growth 

T1.4

Ensure access is  
available to appropriate 
data to inform decisions on 
need and the types of units 
required

Affordable housing T1.5

Consider the development 
of bedsit accommodation 
particularly for the under 
35s

1.1, 1.2, 1.4, 4.4 Short/Medium

Assistant  
Director   
Development & 
Growth 

Assistant  
Director Housing

Specialist housing T1.6
Consider the development 
of a design standard for 
communal housing

1.1, 1.2, 1.3, 2.1, 
3.1 Short/Medium

Assistant  
Director  
Development  
& Growth

Action plan

35



22

Housing Strategy 2019 - 2023

Activity Actions Contributes to 
Outcomes Action Period Responsible 

Lead(s)

Partnerships

T1.7

Work with partners to 
develop schemes to 
address overcrowding and 
under-occupancy

1.1, 1.2, 1.4, 
2.8, 2.9, 4.4 Short

Assistant 
Director 
Development  
& Growth 

Assistant 
Director 
Housing 

T1.8

Work with other partners 
to ensure that residents 
can rent or buy affordable 
housing

T1.9

Consider alternative 
approaches to the delivery 
of affordable housing 
in order to ensure that 
developments can be 
brought forward

Incentives T1.10

Incentivise private 
landlords to encourage 
provision of housing to 
meet identified housing 
need

1.3, 1.4, 4.2 Medium

Assistant 
Director Housing

Assistant 
Director 
Environment

Helping and encouraging 
people to remain in their 
homes

T1.11
Develop schemes which 
enable tenants to sustain 
their tenancies

1.4, 4.4 Short Assistant 
Director Housing

Lobbying T1.12

Lobby the Government to: 
relax current restrictions 
affecting the ability of 
local authorities to borrow 
money, abolish the ‘Right 
to Buy’ and the retention of 
a negotiated quota on new 
developments

1.5 Ongoing Assistant 
Director Housing

36



23

Housing Strategy 2019 - 2023

Theme 2: Facilitatate the delivery of new housing across 
a range of tenures

Activity Actions Contributes to 
Outcomes Action Period Responsible 

Lead(s)

Making best use of  
existing land and  
buildings

T2.1 Acquire land for housing 
delivery

1.2, 1.4, 2.1, 
2.2, 2.5, 2.8 Medium/Long

Assistant 
Director 
Development 
& Growth

T2.2
Ensure an adequate supply of 
housing is bought forward on 
land owned by the Council

T2.3
Maximise opportunities for 
publicly-owned property to be 
utilised

T2.4
Utilise buildings (e.g. shops 
and upper floors) in the town 
centre for conversion

Making it happen:  
planning

T2.5

Develop a new approach for 
planning applicants to ensure 
the greatest possible  
certainty from the earliest 
possible opportunity on the 
approvability and deliverability 
of their scheme, including  
input from statutory  
consultees to agreed  
timescales and from officers 
who are empowered to make 
decisions

2.1, 2.4, 2.5, 
2.7, 2.9 Medium

Assistant  
Director  
Development  
& Growth

T2.6

Follow-through the relaxation 
of planning policies to  
encourage development in 
villages, as proposed in the 
new draft Local Plan

T2.7

Provide additional briefings 
and training for Development 
Management Committee 
Members

37



24

Housing Strategy 2019 - 2023

Activity Actions Contributes to 
Outcomes Action Period Responsible 

Lead(s)

Partnerships and 
engagement

T2.8
Agreeing with developers what 
needs to be built in order for a 
development to be viable

2.1, 2.2, 2.4, 
2.7, 2.9 Short/Medium

Assistant  
Director  
Development  
& Growth

T2.9

Explore potential benefits 
of joint ventures with local 
builders, developers and 
investors to deliver more 
housing more quickly

T2.10

Agree a framework of key 
partners and stakeholders 
who are tasked with speeding 
up delivery

Council support for 
house building

T2.11
Optimise the use of Council- 
owned assets, including 
targeted remodelling

1.1, 1.2, 1.3, 
1.4, 2.1, 2.2, 
2.6, 2.8, 2.9, 
3.1

Ongoing

Assistant  
Director  
Development  
& Growth

T2.12 Continue to build more 
Council houses

T2.13
Consider the role for the 
Council as a funder/investor in 
housing developments

T2.14

Consider, and then market, 
the quality of life available to 
current and future residents 
of South Kesteven, including 
work, play and home

T2.15

Explore the use of prefab and 
modular build methods, and 
the Council’s role in enabling 
this approach

38



25

Housing Strategy 2019 - 2023

Activity Actions Contributes to 
Outcomes Action Period Responsible 

Lead(s)

High quality design: 
internal and external

T2.16

Promote the Spitalgate 
Garden Village as an exemplar 
for architectural and urban 
design

2.1, 2.9 Short/Medium

Assistant   
Director  
Development  
& Growth

T2.17

Follow through the policy 
to produce a Design 
Supplementary Planning 
Document

T2.18 Encourage community build 
schemes

Rural affordability T2.19
Encourage the delivery of 
affordable housing in rural 
areas that is near to services

1.4, 2.1, 2.8, 
2.9 Medium

Assistant  
Director  
Development  
& Growth

Construction skills

T2.20
SKDC to develop houses and 
housing sites through its own 
company

1.1, 2.1, 2.6, 
2.8, 2.9 Short/Medium

Assistant  
Director  
Development  
& Growth

T2.21

Work with colleges so that 
young people learn the skills 
necessary for building new 
housing

Lobbying T2.22

Support the Government’s 
aspiration – as expressed in 
the Housing White Paper - to 
target builders to deliver within 
a certain time-frame, or land 
will revert to previous use

2.3 Ongoing

Assistant  
Director  
Development  
& Growth

39



26

Housing Strategy 2019 - 2023

Theme 3: Enable those whose independence may be at risk to 
access housing (including their current home) that meets their needs

Activity Actions Contributes to 
Outcomes Action Period Responsible 

Lead(s)

Specialist Housing

T3.1

Explore options for providing 
sheltered/extra care housing in 
areas of identified need and in 
close proximity to local services

2.9, 3.1, 3.2, 
3.4, 3.5 Short/Medium

Assistant  
Director  
Housing

T3.2

Work with other statutory  
partnerships to clarify the need 
for a range of affordable  
housing to be provided across 
the district to meet needs of 
people with learning disabilities, 
mental health issues and those 
with physical disabilities

Community  
Infrastructure T3.3

Consider the use of the  
Council’s – and other public  
sector – assets to further  
support day care for the elderly

3.2 Short
Assistant  
Director  
Housing

Creating quality  
places and homes T3.4

Encourage the creation of high 
quality accommodation for the 
elderly which will not be seen 
as a ‘step down’ from their large 
family home

2.9, 3.1, 3.2 Short/Medium
Assistant  
Director  
Housing

Planning policy T3.5

Consider the benefits of de-
veloping a local policy around 
the construction of annexes to 
family homes

3.1, 3.2, 3.5 Short/Medium

Assistant  
Director  
Development 
& Growth

40



27

Housing Strategy 2019 - 2023

Activity Actions Contributes to 
Outcomes Action Period Responsible 

Lead(s)

Skills

T3.6
Work with the County Council to 
support training opportunities for 
carers

3.2, 3.3 Medium
Assistant  
Director  
Housing

T3.7

Support workforce development 
to enable residents to maximise 
the opportunities available from 
assistive technology

Incentives T3.8

Consider incentives to  
encourage residents to move 
to homes that better suit their 
ongoing needs or free up larger 
housing

3.1 Medium
Assistant  
Director  
Housing

Lobbying T3.9
Lobby Government to ensure a 
sustainable future for sheltered 
and supported housing

3.2, 3.2, 3.4 Ongoing
Assistant  
Director  
Housing

41



28

Housing Strategy 2019 - 2023

Activity Actions Contributes to 
Outcomes Action Period Responsible 

Lead(s)

Local letting agency T4.1

Explore opportunities for a  
Council run ‘local lettings 
agency’ providing a letting  
service supporting local landlords

1.4, 2.8, 4.1, 
4.2 Short

Assistant  
Director  
Housing

Incentives and 
support for good 
landlords

T4.2 Increase engagement with  
landlords and letting agents

1.4, 2.8, 4.1, 
4.2, 4.3, 4.4 Short/Medium

Assistant  
Director  
Housing

Assistant  
Director  
Environment

T4.3

Expand the private rented sector 
property leasing scheme,  
providing a guaranteed income 
(to landlords) and quality  
accommodation (for residents)

T4.4
Review the range of financial  
incentives available to the  
private rented sector

4.2, 4.3 Short/Medium

Assistant  
Director  
Housing

Assistant  
Director  
Environment

Standards and  
enforcement T4.5

Review the housing enforce-
ment policy to reflect new civil 
penalties legislation and ensure 
we can tackle ‘rogue landlords’ 
effectively

4.1, 4.2, 4.3 Short/Medium
Assistant  
Director  
Environment

SKDC increasing 
rented 
sector stock T4.6

Continue to build Council  
housing to relieve pressure  
on the private rented sector

1.2, 1.3, 1.4, 
2.8, 4.2, 4.4 Medium

Assistant  
Director  
Housing

Lobbying T4.7

Lobby the Government to 
introduce a cap on rent fees/ 
increases
Lobby Government to restrict 
the amount of deposit payable

2.8, 4.2, 4.3 Ongoing
Assistant  
Director  
Housing

Theme 4: Encourage, support and regulate the private sector  
to provide well managed, safe homes

42



29

Housing Strategy 2019 - 2023

Contacts
Harrinder Rai, Assistant Director Housing
harry.rai@southkesteven.gov.uk  
01476 406299

Our strategy sets out how we intend to deliver outcomes over the next four years and will be regularly monitored by the 
Cabinet Member for Communities. Progress will be reported annually to the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committees 
where achievements, progress and any future challenges will be reviewed. 

While we have specified action periods for each outcome in our action plan, the delivery of the activities will be planned 
annually and regularly updated. It is intended that our Action Plan will allow us to be flexible so that we can react to 
national and local changes, continue with actions and start new actions when appropriate over the course of the strategy.

Monitoring outcomes

43



South Kesteven is an 
attractive, prosperous 
and safe place to live, 
work and visit.

02
49

0R
T_

9.
19

44



Rural and Communities Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee
16 January 2020

Report of: Councillor Robert Reid
Cabinet Member for Communities 
and HR

        

Customer Experience Strategy
The purpose of this report is to consider the Council’s position in updating and developing a 
Customer Experience Strategy (appendix 1) that meets the current and future needs of our 
customers, visitors and businesses. 

Report Author

Nova Roberts, Head of Customer Experience and IT

01476 406506

nova.roberts@southkesteven.gov.uk

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards:

Agility Budget and Policy 
Framework

All Wards

Reviewed by: Paul Thomas, Interim Chief Executive 23 December 2019

Approved by: Lee Sirdifield, Strategic Director – Transformation and 
Change 2 January 2020

Signed off by: Councillor Robert Reid, Cabinet Member for 
Communities, Health and Wellbeing 2 January 2020

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s)

1. Notes the development and progress to date and makes any appropriate comment 
for consideration and inclusion in the strategy, ahead of going to Cabinet with the 
final version.

2. Subject to point 1 above, recommends to Cabinet that the strategy be adopted. 

45

Agenda Item 9

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


1 The Background to the Report
1.1 A vital part of the transformation of the council is the creation of a modern, flexible 

customer experience, offering choice and delivering convenience to all customers, 
businesses and visitors. To do this, services must maximise the use of all channels 
available. It is essential that the council improves its hours of accessibility by promoting 
self-service for all transactions. This will make it easy to do business with SKDC whilst 
actively supporting those most vulnerable.  

1.2 As a council we have a wide range of customers. They include those who have 
traditionally used our services and those that we have a ‘transactional relationship’ with. 
As a commercially-focussed local authority, our customers also include visitors, local, 
national and international business and partner organisations.

1.3 We need to ensure that our services are both affordable and sustainable. It is vital that we 
not only deliver ‘business as usual’ in a more modern environment but we continue to 
enhance our services in line with the customer expectations, evolving technologies and 
opportunities for customers, putting their needs at the heart of our organisation.

1.4 Customer expectations continue to increase. Customers are expecting a modern council 
with a high-quality range of options to access services. We will consider the appropriate 
application of modern technologies to support their interactions, whether that be through 
artificial intelligence, intelligent websites, social media, online accounts, webchat or 
chatbots and apps.

1.5 SKDC customers expect to easily access information and our staff need to be enabled 
with the right tools to make service delivery as easy and as seamless as possible. Ideally 
customers would like a joined-up service offer, with our channels providing consistent 
responses and connected signposting to partner organisations. To achieve this, we need 
to provide an ever-increasing depth of service that is efficiently delivered across all 
channels – modernising our services to be fit for the future, firmly putting the customer 
first.

1.6 It is vital that Customer Services offer access to self-service, first time - every time, and we 
make this easy and consistently good in delivery. We will also maintain the option of face 
to face and telephony services for those most vulnerable, as well as supporting customers 
and businesses to self-serve 24/7, interact online, set up online accounts to meet current 
and future demand.

1.7 There are several contributing factors that dovetail with this strategy (ICT capability, 
retaining our talented staff, a new website, online forms etc.) which must be considered to 
realise the savings required and to ensure delivery of a modern, consistent and reliable 
customer service experience.

1.8 By investing in our staff and the tools we use to deliver our services, we will also become 
more productive. Gaining extra capacity gives us choice. We can improve and become 
more consistent in our service standards, redirect resources to priority areas, provide 
‘back office expertise’ or reduce operating costs, all in a managed way. We cannot ensure 
that we have a sustainable organisation that meets customer expectations by staying as 
we are.

1.9 If we stay as we are, we will continue to have to manage high volumes of switchboard-
based contacts directed from customer services into individual service areas. Services will 
only be provided within defined operating hours determined by staff availability and within 

46



agreed office opening hours. These transactions are supported by a range of different 
specialist software applications to manage each transaction individually for every contact. 
This typically extends transaction times and results in a fragmented service offer. 

1.10 We will use technologies to modernise our telephony offer, improve the website, 
rationalise our face to face offering and increase self-service provision as well as the 
content of our online customer accounts. We’ll be using new technologies to answer high 
volume, knowledge-based enquiries both through the website and over the telephone. We 
will increase our deployment of intelligent automation to achieve process efficiencies and 
ensure that our staff can provide the additional value to our most vulnerable customers, 
rather than dealing with the day to day churn. 

1.11 This will help to balance the Council’s current budget whilst delivering ‘business as usual’ 
enhanced with new technology in line with the customer expectations and enabling our 
staff to keep customer at the heart of our organisation.

1.12 The service must maximise the use of all channels available to improve our hours of 
accessibility 24/7 by promoting self-service for all transactions and making it easy to do 
business with SKDC, whilst actively supporting those most vulnerable.  

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny
2.1 Our customer experience strategy sets out how we as a council intend to provide services 

to our customers. We want this to be quicker, easier and with more choice of access, with 
consistently good experience wherever and whenever you deal with the council.

2.2 We know that many people are now regularly using digital services, with online banking 
and shopping becoming more popular. For example, 87% of retail purchases are now 
made online. The web is now the first choice for service help and increasingly is being 
delivered through solutions such as Chatbots and Webchat. Access is also now 
predominately through smart phones and tablets in preference to desktop computers. 

2.3 Re-considering our customer service offering in order to create a modernised service will 
require the Council to rationalise its face to face customer service provision, including the 
offering to the Stamford and Market Deeping offices, and develop a range of other 
channels.  Appendix 2 provides further information on the current performance, offer and 
utilisation at each site.

2.4 The proposal is to create a North and South hub in the district providing online digital 
services, payment kiosks, face to face support, enhanced access to web forms and 
signposting alongside the library services.

2.5 Across other areas in the district the proposal is to create service delivery through self-
service payment kiosks, direct ‘hot phone’ to services and an automated payment line, 
ideally located close to library services and arts facilities. The proposal places specific 
emphasis on redesigning the Market Deeping and Stamford offer.

3 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision
3.1 The implementation of the Customer Experience Strategy will see some public 

consultation take place. Initially this will focus on the changes to the Market Deeping and 
Stamford face to face service provision. However, as part of the drive to ensure customers 

47



are at the heart of the organisation, the strategy will see us consulting and engaging with 
customers more regularly in the future. 

4 Financial Implications 
4.1 Plans for the implementation of the customer service delivery model have been built into 

2020/21 budget proposals. This includes implementing alternative customer services at 
specific locations with kiosk and telephony provision being put in place. It is expected that 
in 2020/21, the Council will save £81k by delivering the service in a different way. This will 
rise to £113k in future years.

4.2 The modernisation of Customer Services is not just about face to face provision. There is 
a need to continue to invest in our customer offer. Investments in our digital offer will be 
made through invest to save proposal supported by business cases later in the year. 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Director of Finance

5 Legal and Governance Implications 
5.1 The strategy sets out how the Council will deliver services in the future. The equality 

assessment considers how any changes to service provision will impact on those with 
protected characteristics and highlights that further assessments will be completed as and 
when required.

5.2 The strategy recognises the requirement to consult and seeks to engage different 
customer groups at various stages of process development to ensure that our services are 
fit for purpose.

Legal Implications reviewed by: Shahin Ismail, Monitoring Officer

6 Equality and Safeguarding Implications 
6.1 An equality impact assessment has been completed for the Customer Experience 

Strategy. This is shown in appendix 3. 

7 Risk and Mitigation
7.1 No significant risks have been identified as a result of this report. 

8 Community Safety Implications 
8.1 No significant community safety implications have been identified as a result of this report. 

9 Other Implications (where significant) 
9.1 None identified.

48



10 Appendices
10.1 Appendix 1: Customer Experience Strategy

10.2 Appendix 2: Area Office Summary 

10.3 Appendix 3: Equality Impact Assessment

Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required)

16 January 2020

Previously Considered by: N/A N/A

Report Timeline: 

Final Decision date  21 January 2020

49



This page is intentionally left blank



Customer 
Experience Strategy
2020-2024

51

Appendix 1



Contents

2

A bit of background info 3

Where we want to get to 4

How we currently operate 6

How many interactions do we have? 7

What does it cost? 8

Our Customer Experience Vision 9

Theme 1: Operating model 10

Theme 2: Technology 11

Theme 3: Embedding a customer first ethos 12

Theme 4: Measurement and management 13

High Level Action Plan 14

52



The political vision for SKDC is ambitious, modern, 
and progressive with a clear number one priority to 
grow the local economy and make South Kesteven a 
better place in which to live, to work, and to invest.

The vision is supported by a strategic investment 
programme across five broad categories: 
commercial, arts and heritage; leisure and the visitor 
economy, retail and markets; public realm and living; 
gateways and transport; and skills.

A vital part of our journey is creating a modernised 
customer experience offer providing choice and 
delivering convenience to all customers, businesses 
and visitors. The service must maximise the use of all 
channels available to improve our hours of accessibility 
(24/7) by promoting self-service for all transactions and 
making it easy to do business with SKDC whilst actively 
supporting those most vulnerable.  

Our customers are traditionally those who have used 
our services, however, there are also others we have 
a ‘transactional relationship’ with. As a commercially-
focussed local authority, our customers also include 
visitors, local, national and international business and 
partner organisations.

Whilst we undoubtedly face an organisational budget
challenge, it is vital that we not only deliver ‘business as
usual’ in a more modern environment but we continue
to enhance our services in line with the customer
expectations, evolving technologies and opportunities
to put their needs at the heart of our business.

Customers now expect a modern council offering a
range of access options to quality services. We have
seen a huge growth in the speed of the technological
change across all access channels. This includes
advancements in artificial intelligence, intelligent
websites, social media, online accounts, virtual
webchat/chatbots and apps. 

We provide access to self-service and maintain the
option of face to face and telephony services.  We
also aim to support customers and businesses to
self-serve 24/7 through online interactions. 

There are a number of contributing factors that
dovetail with this strategy (ICT capability, retaining
our best staff, our approach to digitisation, a new
website and online forms) which must be considered
to realise savings and to ensure delivery of a modern,
consistent and reliable customer service experience.

A bit of background info

353



Where we
want to get to

4

The organisation is making a radical transition to 
develop new technologies to support the way its 
services will be delivered. Simultaneously, we are in 
the midst of radical reform nationally in the wake of 
Universal Credit which has introduced changes to 
welfare benefits including how they are paid and the 
move to the customer self-managing their payments 
and personal finances.  

We’ll be operating under a new model. We’ll move 
even more of our customer interactions into our 
centralised customer service team. This will help to 
ensure consistency of service and also free up time 
in the back-office to focus on those tasks that often 
require a different set of skills. We’ll do this by 
effectively blending people and technology together 
and triaging enquiries to make sure that they are 
responded to in the most efficient and effective way 
for both the customer and the council.

Ultimately, the strategy will see an improved service 
offer to our customers at a lower cost. It is backed by 
an action plan that will see ongoing investment into 
customer services to enable us to achieve greater 
levels of efficiency.

A key part of the transformation of the council is the 
creation of a modern, flexible customer experience, 
offering choice and delivering convenience to all 
customers, businesses and visitors. To do this, 
services must maximise the use of all channels 
available. It is essential that the council improves its 
hours of accessibility by promoting self-service for all

transactions. This will make it easy to do business 
with SKDC whilst actively supporting those most 
vulnerable.  

We need to ensure that our services are both 
affordable and sustainable. It is essential that we not 
only deliver ‘business as usual’ in a more modern 
environment but we continue to enhance our 
services. 

Customers will increasingly expect to access 
services through a wide range of options. We will 
consider the appropriate application of modern 
technologies to support their interactions, whether 
that be through artificial intelligence, intelligent 
websites, social media, online accounts, webchat or 
chatbots and apps.

We will improve performance management across 
our customer interactions, making sure that we 
measure the right things and drive the improvements 
that our customers want to see. This will be 
supported by a range of new performance tools that 
will give us more insight into our customer behaviours 
and experiences than we’ve ever had before.

Our customers expect to easily access information 
and our staff need to have the right tools to make 
service delivery as easy and as seamless as 
possible. Ideally customers would like a joined-up 
service offer, with our channels providing consistent 
responses and connected signposting to partner

Customers will increasingly expect to
access services through a wide range of
options. We will consider the appropriate
application of modern technologies to
support their interactions

“
”

54



organisations. To achieve this, we need to provide an
ever-increasing depth and breadth of service that is
efficiently delivered across all channels –
modernising our services to be fit for the future, firmly
putting the customer first.

It is vital that Customer Services offer access to self-
service, first time - every time, and we make this easy
and consistently good in delivery. We will also
maintain the option of face to face and telephony
services for those most vulnerable, as well as
supporting customers and businesses to self-serve
24/7, interact online, set up online accounts to meet
current and future demand.

By investing in our staff and the tools we use to
deliver our services, we will also become more
productive. Gaining extra capacity gives us choice.
We can improve and become more consistent in our
service standards, redirect resources to priority
areas, provide ‘back office expertise’ or reduce
operating costs, all in a managed way.

The strategy will ensure that we have a sustainable
organisation that meets customer expectations. This
cannot be achieved by staying as we are.

5

We will also maintain the option of face to face and telephony services
for those most vulnerable, as well as supporting customers and
businesses to self-serve 24/7, interact online, set up online accounts to
meet current and future demand.
“

”

55



6

We currently have four customer services centres
located across the district. Our staff are multi-skilled,
so are able to respond to a range of service requests
through any access channel. However, the
experience the customer gets will vary depending on
the channel chosen.

Only some of the customer service offices have self-
service kiosks. Currently, Stamford and Market
Deeping do not have a self-serve payment. However,
in Bourne, customers have been supported to utilise
the three kiosks which enable access to a range of
services including balances and payments for rent
and council tax.

At Stamford all customers liaise with the customer
service team directly to complete their enquiries
because no other options are available to them.
Payments represent 36% of those interactions, all of
which could be managed through a kiosk, via the
telephone or online. 

We use a wide range of IT systems to deliver our
services. This means that our staff  interpret
information in a range of formats and often only get a

partial view of the customers circumstances. This
limits the customer’s overall experience. Not all of our
systems can facilitate the type of interactions that we
now see as commonplace, such as sending a text
message update to a customer. We often have to join
systems together to achieve the outcomes that the
customer expects. This can be costly and time
consuming. 

However, we’ve got over 100 forms online which help
customers to transact with us at any time of day or
night. Some of these are joined to automated back-
office processes which enable prompt processing of
work, or responses to enquiries. Work is already
underway to extend this further.

We still have some duplication of work. Whilst we’ve
made some improvements, we often  have to rekey
information into back office systems, and some
frequently accessed services still rely on face to face
or telephone conversations to be delivered. Often,
customers have to understand how we operate in
order to access our services.

How we 
currently operate

56



How many interactions
do we have?

7

As the size of the district grows, demand for our services continues to increase. It is more important
than ever that we take every opportunity to streamline our provision and ensure that each transaction is
well designed and represents not only a good customer experience, but also value for money.

It’s important to appreciate just how many interactions the council deals with each
year. During 2018/19 we managed:

95,547
telephone contacts through the

customer service centre

9,900
emails to our customer 

service inbox

461,171 
visits to our website home page

39,133
calls handled by our 
switchboard operators

37,521 
face to face visits across our four

offices

@

57



What does it cost?

8

It is recognised that different access channels create different cost pressures on the council. We’ve had some
great success in moving customers to what are typically cheaper, online transactions. For example, over 80% of
those accessing the garden waste service now choose to do so electronically, rather than through traditional
channels. This strategy sees the council continuing this work to not only reduce costs, but to increase choice.

Latest industry benchmarks suggest that the average cost of a customer interaction is:

For South Kesteven District Council, simply switching 15% of our face to face demand
to a web-based transaction could save us nearly £50,000 per year. 

face to face 
£8.62

telephone 
£2.83

website 
£0.15
@

58



Our Customer
Experience Vision

9

Our vision is split into a number of key themes which combined will improve customer experience as well
as the efficiency and effectiveness of our services. The themes are based on 5 key principles:

Understanding
customer
needs

Enabling
access

First time,
every time

Staff
development

Continual
improvement

59



Theme 1: Operating model

10

Our target operating model recognises how people 
and technology can work seamlessly together and 
both contribute in different ways. We know that 
technology is great at delivering high volume, 
repetitive rule-based tasks, whilst people are better 
where empathy or subjective judgement is required. 
We’ll reconfigure our offer to effectively triage 
interactions and ensure that they are handled in the 
best possible way across all of our contact channels, 
including virtual assistants, phone, text, social media, 
mobile apps, online forms, post and email as well as 
face to face where it’s really needed. 

Our operating model is based on the principles of 
digital by design. This is where each of our 
processes are reviewed in detail, and where 
necessary, remodelled to support digital interactions 
in the future. The customer will get an improved 
outcome and will have greater choice in how to 
access a service. The council will see lower 
operating costs through greater levels of automation 
and a reduction in repeat contacts from customers.

This work will improve the number of ways customers 
contact us, not just closing channels down. If a 
customer wants to contact us through a traditional 
route, they still can. However, the onward journey for 
their transaction will still be utilising the new improved 
processes.

We’ll involve customers throughout this process to 
ensure that we are building services that are in tune 
with the reality of how customers behave and wish to 
contact SKDC. Our model is based on three tiers of 
access.

Tiers one and two would typically be managed by our 
customer service team, with only those falling into tier 
three being referred to a back-office service. There is 
a requirement to upskill our staff and improve our 
knowledge-base as part of this shift.

Tier 1: typically managed by virtual workers, and 
where necessary, supported by multi-skilled officers 
to resolve the enquiry at the first point of contact. 
This would typically be interactions that involve sign 
posting, simple information provision, reporting of

faults or booking a service. It also includes making
payments, requesting service provision, or seeking
updates on progress.

Tier 2: more complicated enquires that require a
specialist to respond. This could be where detailed
advice is required, or where we need to respond to a
complaint or customer feedback. 

Tier 3: ongoing cases that are being managed by the
back-office service. Typically, the most complicated
of cases where detailed assessments are required to
enable the service to be delivered.

Key activities include:

n data gathering – through tools like google
analytics, contact centre monitoring
reports, web analytics, reception demand
and print / post volumes etc

n customer engagement and consultation to
better understand current and future
requirements and how proposed changes
will affect them

n deployment of kiosk solutions for each of
our market towns

n reviewing approach: identifying how
successful our activities are at driving
interactions or behaviours and seeking
opportunities to do things differently in the
future

n testing and launching new solutions: we will
incrementally develop new solutions,
utilising the latest agile development
techniques. This will ensure that the
customer receives regular improvements in
service provision that is focussed on the
things that matter the most to them

60



11

The implementation of the model will see new technologies
introduced to help ensure that we make the best use of our
resources – allocating the people with the right skills to the
right tasks at the right time in the right place.

The Customer Experience Strategy dovetails with our emerging
ICT strategy. We’ll be focussing on utilising best of breed
technologies to better support our customers and simplifying
the way that we go about doing business. We’ll better leverage
relationships with suppliers to implement solutions that improve
our customers lives and remove many of the barriers and
blockages that current exist within our processes.

Technological advancements are moving faster than ever and
have a significant impact on customer expectations. There is
no such thing as standing still. If we don’t invest then in reality
our services will be going backwards and won’t be moving at
the pace our customers expect. We need to fundamentally
review the type and configuration of technologies used to
deliver services across each channel.

Theme 2: Technology

Key activities include:

n evaluate, procure and implement a new digital
engagement / CRM platform

n enhance our ‘my account’ functionality

n introduce a virtual operator solution

n deploy new booking solutions to provide greater choice,
independence and automation

n commission a new council website

n develop our knowledge-base for use by customers, staff
and virtual assistants

n deploy chat technologies, including chatbots in high
volume, repetitive environments

61



Theme 3: Embedding a
customer first ethos

12

We will create a network of customer champions,
backed by senior management to drive the delivery
of this strategy. We will ensure that the customer
voice is central to our decision making when we look
at how our services are designed in the future. We’ll
also  share learning and best practice across the
organisation.

The Customer Services management team will work
with service areas on planning, customer journey
mapping and performance monitoring. They will also
be responsible for agreeing and monitoring Customer
Experience Business Charter Agreements with
service areas to embed the transformed processes,
service hand off points, customer feedback and
performance.

The team will explain the need for change, and then
work with the service teams themselves to agree and
collectively own how that happens within the
framework of the Customer Experience Strategy and
guidelines that leadership and management provide. 

We’ll utilise our project governance methodologies to
implement improvements to our customer service,
with our customer champions ensuring that our
initiatives are properly communicated both internally
and externally to gain buy-in and the maximum
impact.

Our HR plans place a focus on learning and
development, seeking to increase the performance
and potential of each of our employees. We will work
with our managers to create individual learning plans
for each employee, with tailored learning paths to
support ongoing personal and professional
development. This includes developing core
customer service skills, recognising this as a
specialism, as well as becoming more outward
looking as an organisation and learning from what
others are doing.

We’ll also be working closely with colleagues in our
communications team to make sure that our
customers get the right messages, in the right place
at the right time. We’ll utilise feedback to improve the
way we communicate and make better use of existing
tools to market new opportunities to our residents,
visitors and businesses as well as providing
improved service updates that are targeted to
individual’s needs.

We’ll also be looking at ways that we can better
market some of the amazing things that the council
does, and that goes on in our district. We want our
residents to truly value the contribution that their
council makes and help the district to thrive.

Key activities include:

n staff learning and development plans

n identifying and implementing service
marketing plans

n reviewing existing customer accounts
to enhance the breadth, depth and
utilisation of this channel

n creation of customer champions with
launch of the strategy

n commission market research to identify
how the best of breed do things

62



Theme 4: Measurement
and management

13

The council has already made great progress in
improving the way it manages performance. We need
to ensure that the customer voice is central to that.
This voice needs to be heard across all areas of the
council and truly understood and listened to.

Through consultation with our customers and
services, we will better understand what matters the
most to our customers. We will use their feedback to
design and develop services, test solutions prior to
implementation and re-evaluate how well we’re doing.

We will work across local government and with the
private sector to benchmark our performance and
identify opportunity to improve further. We’ll be
looking at what others are doing, how and why they
are doing it, and how this could help in the delivery of
services at SKDC. Our customers don’t just compare
us with other parts of the public sector, so we need to
look wider and develop new relationships if we are
going to keep pace with the rest of the world.

We will regularly talk and reflect on our customers
experience and views of the services that we provide.
We’ll use this gift of information to identify ways that

we can improve. The improvements will be promoted
and supported to engage customers and staff
members to utilise new solutions. 

Key activities include:

n consultation and engagement
exercises

n creation of dashboards

n benchmarking with others – both in
the public and private sector

n training and development plans to
respond to feedback and improve
our offer

n embedding the customer voice into
our performance appraisals across
the authority

63



High Level Action Plan
The Customer Experience Strategy is underpinned by an action plan that runs from 2020 until 2024. Each activity
will progress through four phases: Discovery, Define, Develop, Deploy. Each deployment will be monitored and
evaluated on an ongoing basis through the performance framework and ongoing customer consultation and
engagement to ensure it meets current needs and is developed further to accommodate future requirements.

Theme 1: Operating Model 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

Data gathering Ongoing activity

Customer engagement and
consultation Ongoing activity

Deployment of kiosk solutions Completed

Reviewing approach Ongoing activity

Testing and launching new solutions Ongoing activity

Theme 2: Technology 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

Digital engagement / CRM platform Scope and
produce Implement

My account Completed

Virtual operator solution Completed

Booking solution Completed

New council website Completed

Develop our knowledge-base Ongoing activity

Chat technologies Completed

14 64



Theme 3: Embedding a Customer
First Ethos 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

Staff learning and development plans Develop/Deploy Ongoing activity

Service marketing plans Ongoing activity

Customer account enhancements Develop Deploy

Customer champions Ongoing activity

Market research Ongoing activity

Theme 4: Measurement and
Management 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

Consultation and engagement
exercises Ongoing activity

Creation of dashboards Completed Ongoing
reviews

Benchmarking Ongoing activity

Training and development Ongoing activity

Embedding the customer voice Ongoing activity

1565



South Kesteven District Council
Council Offices, St. Peter’s HIll,
Grantham, Lincolnshire NG31 6PZ

% 01476 406080
www.southkesteven.gov.uk

66



APPENDIX 2: AREA OFFICE SUMMARY

1. Area Offices Summary 18/19

Market Deeping 

 Operating hours are 9.30am – 2pm, 5 days a week
 Deeping has the lowest footfall out of all four offices 
 No appointment services are offered 
 Average 187 transactions per month 
 Payments represent 27% of all monthly interactions
 Up to 12% of monthly interactions are non SKDC related (e.g. bus passes)
 Housing register process is 6% of monthly interactions
 Scanning documents and evidence is an average of 12% of all service requests. 
 Taxi licensing is an average of 14% of monthly interactions.

Stamford 

 Operating hours Monday, Tuesday and Wednesday – 9am – 5pm, Thursday – 9am – 3.30pm 
and Friday – 9am – 4.30pm.

 Average of 705 transactions per month 
 Payments represent 36% of all monthly interactions.
 9% of monthly interactions are non SKDC related (bus passes)
 Scanning documents and evidence average 4% of all service requests. 
 Taxi licensing and parking permits / visitor vouchers represent 20% of monthly interactions.
 Housing and Taxi Licensing appointments are offered mornings only

Bourne 

 Operating hours Monday, Wednesday, Friday - 9.00 to 17.00, Tuesday, Thursday - 9.00 to 
18.00, Saturday - 10.00 to 13.00. This is 45hrs per week over 6 days, including late nights till 
6pm and Saturday.

 Bourne is a community access point, not currently greatly used by SKDC staff and customers 
due to lack of demand and minimal promotion. 

 LCC provide 9000+ books, DVD’s and 7 people network computers
 Registrars operate from Booth 3 on Monday, Wednesday and Saturday
 Planning duty appointments on a Tuesday and Thursday - demand led
 Booths are also used by Housing Management for sign ups and Housing Strategy for 

homeless appointments as and when needed.
 In 17/18 there were 88K library visits in and out of the doors to reception (NB: be aware 

these are total door count figures including staff and customers) 

67

Appendix 2



This page is intentionally left blank



South Kesteven District Council

Equality Impact
(Initial Analysis)

Customer Experience Strategy

Lead officer:
 Lee Sirdifield
Assessors:
Nova Roberts
Jack Perry

Service Area:

Customer Services

Neutral Assessor:
Carol Drury

Date of Meeting 

02/01/20

69

Appendix 3



1. Name and description of policy/service/function/strategy

Customer Access Strategy: This strategy sets out the ambitions of the 
Council for how it will deliver services in the future. A vital part of creating a 
high performing local authority is a creation of a modernised customer 
experience offering providing choice and delivering convenience to all 
customers, businesses and visitors. The strategy seeks to maximise the 
use of all channels available to improve our hours of accessibility 24/7 by 
promoting self-service for all transactions and making it easy to do 
business with SKDC whilst actively supporting those most vulnerable.

Is this a new or existing policy? New

2. Complete the table below, considering whether the proposed 
policy/service/function/strategy could have any potential positive,  or 
negative impacts on groups from any of the protected characteristics (or 
diversity strands) listed, using demographic data, user surveys, local 
consultations evaluation forms, comments and complaints etc.

Equality Group

Does this strategy have a 
positive or negative impact 
on any of the equality 
groups? 

Please state which for each 
group

Please describe why the 
impact is positive or 
negative.
If you consider this policy 
etc is not relevant to a 
specific characteristic 
please explain why  

Age Positive The strategy clearly sets out 
how we will open up additional 
channels to support access to 
our services. It enables further 
choice, providing 24/7 access, 
allowing customers to interact 
with us at their convenience.

This better accommodates the 
needs of those who would 
typically struggle to access 
services during traditional 
office hours and reduces the 
need to travel.

The strategy doesn’t purely 
focus on deploying internet-
based technologies. It sees 
enhancements in our 
telephony offer, to enable out 

70



Negative

of hours services to be 
provided, as well as enabling 
self-service in a face to face 
setting for high volume 
transactions within partner 
sites.

The deployment of webchat 
technologies will enable 
people to access services 
without the need to use 
telephony based solutions or 
travel to our offices.

The strategy proposes the 
closure of two area offices. 
This will potentially have a 
negative impact on a small 
number of customers that only 
visit those offices. A 
consultation exercise will be 
completed to better 
understand the impact on that 
group and how this impact can 
be mitigated.

Disability Positive The strategy seeks to make 
our services more accessible. 
It will ensure that current 
services, and any new 
developments meet the 
requirements of the Equality 
Act. This includes the 
deployment of new 
technologies to enable items 
such as screen reading.

The strategy reduces the need 
for face to face interaction, 
making it easier for those with 
disabilities to access services. 
It also provides enhanced 
tracking of service provision 
which would allow users (or 
their support network) to keep 
up to date with service 
provision.

71



Negative

The tiering of the service 
provision enables those with 
the greatest needs to be either 
signposted or routed to the 
best possible place to gain the 
support that they require.

The deployment of webchat 
technologies will enable 
people to access services 
without the need to use 
telephony based solutions or 
travel to our offices.

The strategy proposes the 
closure of two area offices. 
This will potentially have a 
negative impact on a small 
number of customers that only 
visit those offices. A 
consultation exercise will be 
completed to better 
understand the impact on that 
group and how this impact can 
be mitigated.

Race Neutral The strategy continues to 
utilise the good practice that 
has already been embedded 
into the organisation to enable 
information to be provided in a 
range of formats to meet 
customer requirements.

Gender 
Reassignment

  

Neutral The strategy continues to 
utilise the good practice that 
has already been embedded 
into the organisation to enable 
information to be provided in a 
range of formats to meet 
customer requirements.

Religion or 
Belief  

Neutral The strategy continues to 
utilise the good practice that 
has already been embedded 
into the organisation to enable 
information to be provided in a 

72



range of formats to meet 
customer requirements.

Sex

  

Neutral The strategy continues to 
utilise the good practice that 
has already been embedded 
into the organisation to enable 
information to be provided in a 
range of formats to meet 
customer requirements.

Sexual 
Orientation

Neutral The strategy continues to 
utilise the good practice that 
has already been embedded 
into the organisation to enable 
information to be provided in a 
range of formats to meet 
customer requirements.

Pregnancy and 
Maternity

Neutral The strategy continues to 
utilise the good practice that 
has already been embedded 
into the organisation to enable 
information to be provided in a 
range of formats to meet 
customer requirements.

Marriage and 
Civil 
Partnership

Neutral The strategy continues to 
utilise the good practice that 
has already been embedded 
into the organisation to enable 
information to be provided in a 
range of formats to meet 
customer requirements.

Carers Positive The strategy seeks to make 
our services more accessible. 
It will ensure that current 
services, and any new 
developments meet the 
requirements of the Equality 
Act.

The strategy reduces the need 
for face to face interaction, 
making it easier for carers to 
access services. It also 
provides enhanced tracking of 
service provision which would 

73



allow carers to keep up to date 
with service provision.

Other Groups 
(e.g. those from 
deprived (IMD*) 
communities; 
those from rural 
communities, 
those with an 
offending past)

*(IMD = Indices 
of multiple 
deprivation)

Positive

Negative

The strategy provides a 
greater range of access 
channels for customers to 
utilise. This will make it easier 
for many in remote locations to 
take up council services 
without the need to travel.

The 24/7 access also provides 
greater flexibility for those who 
require support or advice to 
access services.
The deployment of webchat 
technologies will enable 
people to access services 
without the need to use 
telephony based solutions or 
travel to our offices. 

The new solutions that will 
developed under this strategy 
recognise that customers are 
choosing to access services in 
different ways and from a 
wider range of devices. Our 
services will be accessible 
across a wide range of 
technologies.

The strategy proposes the 
closure of two area offices. 
This will potentially have a 
negative impact on a small 
number of customers that only 
visit those offices. A 
consultation exercise will be 
completed to better 
understand the impact on that 
group and how this impact can 
be mitigated.

74



General 
comments

The strategy sets out that we will continually engage with our 
customers to develop new solutions. This will help to ensure 
that customer needs are properly anticipated and reflected in 
service design.

Where appropriate, we will complete further, in-depth 
assessments of any new individual processes or proposed 
solutions to ensure that they appropriately meet customer needs 
and are equitable.

3. What data/information did you use to inform the outcomes of the 
proposed policy/service/function/strategy? (Note any relevant 
consultation who took part and key findings)

The strategy has been developed on extensive customer data from a 
range of processing systems. We’ve also examined customer feedback to 
understand where we can improve.

The strategy recognises that we do not have all of the information that we 
will need to make changes to the way we do things. A key part of the 
strategy will be commissioning research into service design and user 
needs to better construct our provision.

If there are any gaps in the consultation/monitoring data, how will this 
be addressed?

This will be addressed through ongoing engagement with our customers 
and the creation of a new set of performance tools to better inform current 
and future service delivery.

4. Outcomes of analysis and recommendations (please note you will be 
required to provide evidence to support the recommendations made): 
Please check one of the options.   

a) No major change needed: equality analysis has not identified any 
potential for discrimination or for negative impact and all 
opportunities to promote equality have been taken

If you have checked option a) you can now send this form to the Lead 
Officer and your Neutral Assessor for sign off

b) Adjust the proposal to remove barriers identified by equality 
analysis or to better promote equality. 

75



If you have checked option b) you will need to answer questions b.1 
and b.2 

c) Adverse impact but continue

If you have checked option c) you will need to answer questions c.1

d Stop and remove the policy/function/service/strategy as equality 
analysis has shown actual or potential unlawful

b.1 In brief, what changes are you planning to make to your proposed 
policy/service/function/strategy to minimise or eliminate the negative 
equality impacts?

b.2 Please provide details of whom you will consult on the proposed 
changes and if you do not plan to consult, please provide the rationale 
behind that decision.  

If you have checked option b) you will need to complete a Stage 2 equality 
analysis

c.1 Please provide an explanation in the box below that clearly sets out your 
justification for continuing with the proposed policy/function/service/ 
strategy.

If you have checked option c) you will need to complete a Stage 2 equality 
analysis. You should consider in stage 2 whether there are sufficient plans to 

reduce the negative impact and/or plans to monitor the actual impact.

Signed (Lead Officer):  Lee Sirdifield
(Name and title) Strategic Director

Date completed: 02/01/20 

Signed (Neutral Assessor): Carol Drury
(Name and title) Community Engagement and Policy Development 
Officer

Date signed off:    02/01/20

76


	Agenda
	6 Action Notes from the meeting held on 21 November 2019
	8 Housing Strategy Refresh
	02490RT_HOUSING STRATEGY revised 01.10.2019

	9 Customer Experience Strategy
	Appendix 1 - Customer Experience Strategy (2020-2024)
	Appendix 2 - Area Office Summary
	Appendix 3 - Customer Experience Strategy Equality Impact Assessment




